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QUESTIONS PRESENTED
I

Article 25(d)(2) of the Uniform Code of Military
Justice requires convening authorities to detail to
court-martial panels (juries) those officers who are,
in their opinion, “best qualified for the duty by rea-
son of age, education, training, experience, length of
service, and judicial temperament.”

Is it structural error for a convening authority to
violate that requirement in the case of a very senior
officer by excluding ex ante all admirals, who by
statute must be the “best qualified”? If not, may the
violation be deemed harmless simply because the of-
ficers who did serve seemed to be conscientious?

II

Must a judge recuse himself when he is in compe-
tition for military promotion with the defendant and
all of the jurors and both the prosecution and the de-
fense request recusal?
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PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Michael E. Sullivan respectfully petitions for a
writ of certiorari to review the judgment of the Unit-
ed States Court of Appeals for the Armed Forces
(“CAAF”).

OPINIONS BELOW

The CAAF opinion, App. la, is reported at 74
M.J. 448. The judgment is reproduced at App. 27a.
The unreported opinion of the United States Coast
Guard Court of Criminal Appeals (“the CCA”) is re-
produced at App. 28a.

JURISDICTION

The judgment below was entered on August 19,
2015. This Court’s jurisdiction rests on 28 U.S.C. §
1259(3).

STATUTORY AND REGULATORY
PROVISIONS INVOLVED

The governing statute is Article 25(d)(2) of the
Uniform Code of Military dJustice (“UCMJ”), 10
U.S.C. § 825(d)(2), App. 54a. The implementing
Manual for Courts-Martial provision is Rule for
Courts-Martial (“R.C.M.”) 502(a)(1).

R.C.M. 902(a), App. 56a, governs the recusal of
military judges.

STATEMENT

Petitioner, a senior captain in the U.S. Coast
Guard, was convicted of cocaine use following a ran-
dom urinalysis. He was tried by a general court-
martial — the highest level of military court — and
sentenced to a fine and a reprimand. The officer who



picked the jury illegally excluded all admirals from
the venire. The judge and jurors were all in competi-
tion with Captain Sullivan for promotion. The judge
also was burdened by a host of past relationships
that impelled both the prosecution and the defense to
seek his recusal. The case involves fundamental is-
sues that are both important and recurring.

A. Legal background

There are three kinds of court-martial. In as-
cending order of punishment powers, these are
summary, special, and general courts-martial. See
generally Weiss v. United States, 510 U.S. 163, 166-
67 (1994). In special and general courts-martial, guilt
and sentence are decided, at the accused’s option, ei-
ther by a military judge or a panel. The panel, com-
posed of “members,” is the military equivalent of the
jury in a civilian trial. Unlike civilian jurors, howev-
er, court-martial members are not selected at ran-
dom. Nor does the UCMd require that the pool from
which they are chosen be a fair cross-section of the
community. Instead, they are selected and “detailed”
by the convening authority, a military commander
who is authorized to bring courts-martial into exist-
ence as the need arises.

Article 25(d)(2) governs convening authorities’
selection of members. It provides in pertinent part:

When convening a court-martial, the
convening authority shall detail as members
thereof such members of the armed forces as,
in his opinion, are best qualified for the duty
by reason of age, education, training, experi-
ence, length of service, and judicial temper-
ament. . ..



“When it can be avoided, no member of an armed
force may be tried by a court-martial any member of
which is junior to him in rank or grade.” Art.
25(d)(1), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 825(d)(1). This means
that, in addition to meeting the “best qualified”
standard, the members must either be serving in a
higher pay grade than the accused (i.e., the defend-
ant) or, if they are in the same pay grade, have earli-
er dates of rank.

This case involves a Coast Guard general court-
martial tried before members. The accused was a
captain, which is the equivalent rank to colonel in
the Army, Marine Corps and Air Force. It is the rank
immediately below rear admiral (lower half) (briga-
dier general) (one star). Admirals (four stars), vice
admirals (three stars), and rear admirals (one or two
stars) rank above captains. The only active duty
Coast Guard personnel who were eligible to serve on
Captain Sullivan’s court-martial were the 60-70 cap-
tains senior to him and the 41 rear, vice and full ad-
mirals.

Coast Guard officers are competitively selected by
promotion boards that apply a “best qualified”
standard. 14 U.S.C. § 259(a). Promotion to rear ad-
miral (lower half) is extremely competitive because,
although captains may constitute up to 6% of the of-
ficers corps, rear admirals (lower half) may consti-
tute only 0.375%. 14 U.S.C. § 42(b)(1).

In addition to the Coast Guard’s 41 active duty
admirals, reserve and retired Coast Guard admirals
called to active duty as well as admirals and generals
of the other armed forces could have been detailed to
the panel. See R.C.M. 502 (Discussion).



Coast Guard military judges, like other Coast
Guard judge advocates, compete for promotion
against all eligible officers in their pay grade. Army,
Navy and Air Force military judges, in contrast,
compete for promotion only with other judge advo-
cates. Uniformed Coast Guard lawyers do not form a
separate “competitive community” for promotion

purposes. Cf. 10 U.S.C. § 612(a)(2).

The President has directed in the Manual for
Courts-Martial that “a military judge shall disqualify
himself or herself in any proceeding in which that
military judge’s impartiality might reasonably be
questioned.” R.C.M. 902(a). A military judge may
preside over cases in which the accused is a member
of another armed force. R.C.M. 201(e)(4).

B. Factual background

Captain Sullivan was, at the time of trial, an ac-
tive duty career Coast Guard officer serving ashore
in Alameda, California. In a random urinalysis, he
tested positive for cocaine, slightly above the estab-
lished cutoff level. Subsequent hair test results also
revealed a very low level. He denied that he had ever
used cocaine.

At his request, his wife’s and daughters’ hair was
also tested for cocaine. His wife’s results were posi-
tive at a very high level. One daughter’s test was,
like his, very marginal; the other’s was negative.
Eventually, his wife admitted — and, without a grant
of immunity, testified at trial — that she was a co-
caine user and had routinely used and kept her co-
caine in the family home.



After eliminating any other possibility, Captain
Sullivan realized that he must have innocently in-
gested cocaine in the house.

The convening authority referred the case to a
general court-martial and selected the members from
a list furnished to him by subordinates. That list in-
cluded captains who were senior in precedence to
Captain Sullivan, and admirals. Without making any
individualized inquiry into their actual availability
to serve, the convening authority decided not to in-
clude any officer above the grade of captain, thus
disqualifying nearly 40% -- indeed, the best qualified
40% -- of the eligible officers. He did so because,
based on his own experience, flag officers are very
busy people, and because he was about to assume a
new billet in Washington in which he would be re-
sponsible for their future assignments.

At the time of trial, Captain Sullivan, the judge,
and all members of the panel were eligible for com-
petitive promotion to rear admiral (lower half). The
judge had had social and duty contacts with virtually
everyone involved in the case. App. 23a. Many of the
communications between the convening authority’s
staff and the members were on a first-name basis.

Both the prosecution and the defense asked the
military judge to recuse himself. He offered to see if
he could find a substitute from another branch of the
service, since he was at the time the Coast Guard’s
sole general court-martial judge, but only on two
conditions: (1) that the trial date he set would not be
altered, see App. 25a n.2, and (2) that the substitute



would be a senior captain.! Apparently unable to find
a substitute who would both agree to the first condi-
tion and meet the second, the military judge refused
to recuse himself, despite the parties’ requests.

C. Proceedings below

On June 17, 2009, Captain Sullivan was convict-
ed of one specification of cocaine use following a trial
before a Coast Guard captain serving as a military
judge and other Coast Guard captains serving as
members. The members acquitted him of the only
other charge: conduct unbecoming an officer. He was
sentenced to a reprimand and a $5,000 fine.

Captain Sullivan’s sentence was too low to enti-
tle him to appellate review as of right, art. 66(b)(1),
UCMd, 10 U.S.C. § 866(b)(1),2 but he persuaded the

1 The first condition was illegal because it would
have limited the discretion of the replacement judge.
Art. 51(b), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 851(b) (military judge
may change ruling on “all interlocutory questions”
“at any time during the trial”); R.C.M. 801(e)(1)(B)
(“[t]he military judge may change a ruling by that or
another military judge in the case except a previous-
ly granted motion for a finding of not guilty, at any
time during the trial”). The second condition was im-
proper because there is no requirement that a mili-
tary judge be in or above the accused’s pay grade.
The conditions would have precluded or deterred eli-
gible judges in other armed forces from trying the
case.

2 See Steve Vladeck, The Alarming Gaps in Military

Appellate Review, JUST SECURITY, Aug. 26, 2015,
available at



acting Judge Advocate General of the Coast Guard to
exercise his power under art. 69(d), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C.
§ 869(d), to send the case to the CCA for review “with
respect to matters of law.” Art. 69(e¢) UCMJ, 10
U.S.C. § 869(e). That court affirmed the findings and

sentence.

Captain Sullivan raised a variety of issues at the
CCA. As to the two presented in this petition, the
CCA held, first, that the convening authority had vi-
olated Article 25(d)(2) but the violation was harm-
less, App. 33a, and second, that the military judge
did not abuse his discretion when he declined to
recuse himself. App. 42a.

CAAF limited its grant of review of those two is-
sues. 2015 CAAF LEXIS 215 (C.A.A.F. 2014); see App
2a. On the first, it held that although the convening
authority “deviated from the Article 25, UCMJ, crite-
ria by categorically excluding flag officers from the
venire,” there was no appearance of unfairness be-
cause those who sat were “fully qualified,” there was
no evidence that they “failed to fully, carefully, and
appropriately consider” the case, the convening au-
thority was not trying to “stack” the panel, but ra-
ther “relied on his experience in concluding that the
flag officers would not be available to actually” serve.
App. 6a.

CAAF held that the government had carried its
burden of showing that categorical exclusion was
harmless in light of the convening authority’s inno-
cent motivation. In addition, it asserted that those
who served met the statutory requirements and their

https://www .justsecurity.org/25625/alarming-gaps-
military-appellate-review/.



“actions in this case demonstrate that they were fair
and unbiased” because they (1) said they would be
during voir dire; (2) participated actively in the trial
by posing unbiased questions; (3) deliberated over
three days; (4) acquitted on one of the charges; and
(5) imposed a lenient sentence. App. 7a.

CAAF dismissed as “speculative” Captain Sulli-
van’s objection that the members and he were in the
same promotion pool “because the trial record does
not reveal that the members acted with any improp-
er motive.” App. 7a n.5. CAAF made no reference to
his argument that a violation of Article 25(d)(2) is
structural error (and therefore not tested for preju-
dice).

On the recusal issue, CAAF split 4-1. The majori-
ty concluded that the military judge “acted within his
discretion in finding that his various relations with
court-martial participants did not constitute a basis
for disqualification. App. 20a. The majority thought
the “potential promotion conflict” between the mili-
tary judge and Captain Sullivan was “illusory” and
“did not create an appearance of bias.” App. 18a. The
majority “caution[ed] military judges to be especially
circumspect in deciding whether to disqualify them-
selves” when both parties seek recusal, but without
further explaining why found that there was not “an
adequate basis to conclude that the military judge
abused his discretion when he decided not to disqual-
ify himself.” App. 19a.

Chief Judge Erdmann dissented as to the recusal
issue, noting that even in a small jurisdiction like the
Coast Guard, which at the time had only one general
court-martial judge, “[aJn accused has a constitu-
tional right to an impartial judge.” United States v.



Martinez, 70 M.J. 154, 157 (C.A.A.F. 2011).” App.
22a. He wrote:

The military judge in this case had a person-
al or professional relationship with nearly
everyone involved in the court-martial pro-
cess, to include the Staff Judge Advocate who
advised the convening authority, the Article
32 hearing officer, the trial counsel, the as-
sistant trial counsel, the defense counsel,
three defense witnesses, the Judge Advocate
General (TJAG) (his supervisor and a poten-
tial witness), the panel members, and the ac-
cused himself. Additionally, the military
judge found himself in the same promotion
pool as the accused. At some point, too much
is simply too much.

App. 20a-21a. After reviewing the facts, Chief Judge
Erdmann concluded:

It is the third Liljeberg [v. Health Sucs.
Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847 (1988)] factor
that is relevant to this inquiry. Is there a risk
of undermining the public’s confidence in the
military justice system where the judge
knows almost everyone in the proceeding, is
in the same promotion pool as the accused,
and has contacted his boss, who was a poten-
tial witness, to give him a “heads-up”? I be-
lieve there is. Adding to the lack of public
confidence is that the matter could have been
resolved by making a formal request for a
military judge to the Judge Advocate General
of a sister service. See Rule for Courts-
Martial 503(b)(3). The failure to remedy the
issue when it was relatively easy to do so
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could only create additional doubt in the pub-
lic’s mind.3

For these reasons I believe that a reasona-
ble person, knowing all the circumstances,
might reasonably question the military
judge’s impartiality. Consequently, the mili-
tary judge’s failure to recuse himself under-
mined public confidence in the integrity of
the military justice system.

REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION

Because court-martial appeals are centralized at
CAAF, the decision below sets a national rule for
courts-martial. Although circuit splits cannot arise in
such cases, this petition fully satisfies the Court’s
other standards for a grant of certiorari. The issues
are important, recurring, and implicate public confi-
dence in the administration of justice. The case is a
proper vehicle for their resolution.

A. The questions presented are im-
portant

Few questions are as central to the administra-
tion of justice as the proper composition of the jury
and the impartiality of the judge. Both are directly at
stake. A judge in a criminal case must be independ-
ent and impartial, and must not be burdened by the

3 Another way of looking at the issue is to
consider whether a military judge in another
service, without the size constraints of the
Coast Guard, would have recused him/herself
under similar circumstances. [Footnote re-
numbered from the original.]
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kind of web of relationships in which the Coast
Guard’s judge found himself enmeshed. For a judge
to be competing with the defendant in a criminal
case for promotion to a limited number of more sen-
ior positions with their common employer strikes at
the heart of the judicial process. A judge should nei-
ther have, nor appear to have, an interest in convict-
ing the defendant. Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510
(1927). That fatal defect is only aggravated when, in
addition, the jurors also are competing with the de-
fendant for promotion.

Equally important is CAAF’s use of a misguided
harmless error analysis in connection with the viola-
tion of Article 25(d)(2). There is no way to test such
an error for harmlessness, as the decision below it-
self makes clear, since it relies on factors that are
clearly without probative value as to whether the vi-
olation was harmless. That the members asked many
questions, took their time, acquitted on one charge,
and did not “throw the book” at Captain Sullivan,
with whom they were in competition for promotion,
when it came time to adjudge a sentence says noth-
ing whatever about what would have happened had
those who were indeed “best qualified” — the admi-
rals — not been excluded ex ante and en masse from
the process.

The UCMdJ’s harmless-error provision states: “A
finding or sentence of a court-martial may not be
held incorrect on the ground of an error of law unless

the error materially prejudices the substantial rights
of the accused.” Art. 59(a), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. § 859(a).
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Article 25(d)(2) is not some mere technicality.* It con-
fers a substantial right in itself. Denial of that right
is material prejudice. It is no answer to say that the
trial was otherwise very nice.

Article 25(d)(2) violations are a classic case for
the application of structural error, Arizona v. Ful-
minante, 499 U.S. 279, 309 (1991), as we argued be-
low, because they defy analysis by harmless error
standards. Having refused to apply structural error
to the Article 25(d)(2) violation in United States v.
Bartlett, 66 M.J. 426, 430 (C.A.A.F. 2008), CAAF’s
decision ignores Captain Sullivan’s structural error
argument, and instead proceeds to find that the gov-
ernment had met its burden of showing harmless-
ness. We explain in Point C infra why that conclu-
sion was mistaken.

The errors complained of in this petition are fun-
damental and profoundly disturbing. The conse-
quences go far beyond simply whether this or any
other particular case or set of cases has been tried in
compliance with the statute: having abandoned con-
scription following the Vietnam War, our national

4 Requiring that court-martial members be “best
qualified” is central to the jury substitute Congress
fashioned for military personnel. Indeed, the sharp
contrast between the jury randomly selected “from a
fair cross section of the community” mandated by the
Jury Selection and Service Act of 1968, 28 U.S.C. §
1861, and the blue-ribbon “best qualified” members
explicitly required by the UCMdJ provides strong con-
firmation that Article 25(d)(2) confers a substantial
right.
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defense effort relies on the abiding confidence of po-
tential recruits that they will be treated fairly and in
keeping with contemporary American standards of
justice. Similarly, the retention of personnel who are
already in the armed forces cannot be taken as a giv-
en: they too must be confident that they will be
treated fairly and afforded the basic protections, mu-
tatis mutandis, that we associate with the admin-
istration of criminal justice.

Congress in 1950 labored to create a system that,
viewed as an organic whole, reasonably approximat-
ed civilian standards. As a counterweight to the nu-
merous respects that, viewed in isolation, fell below
those standards, the UCMJ conferred other rights
that exceeded those standards. For example, it con-
ferred rights to defense counsel without regard to in-
digence.

On the other side of the ledger, Article 25(d)(2)
does not replicate civilian jury-selection criteria or
processes, and vests critical powers in officials who,
because of their responsibility for ensuring good or-
der and discipline, cannot be said to be impartial in
the way a civilian jury commissioner is impartial.

The choices Congress made in designing a mili-
tary jury system make it critical that the protection
afforded by the Article 25(d)(2) criteria be scrupu-
lously respected and not thwarted by misapplication
of the rule of harmless error.
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B. The first question presented is re-
curring

Described by the National Institute of Military
Justice’s Commission on the 50th Anniversary of the
Uniform Code of Military Justice® as “an invitation
to mischief,” Article 25 — especially Article 25(d)(2) —
has proven to be a recurring source of error that
CAAF has been unable to stem. Despite numerous
appellate decisions, convening authorities continue
to exclude whole categories of personnel from consid-
eration for service as members based on their rank —
a factor that is not included among the six set forth
in the statute. United States v. Greene, 20
U.S.C.M.A. 232, 238, 43 C.M.R. 72, 78 (1970); see al-
so United States v. Daigle, 23 U.S.C.M.A. 516, 517, 1
M.dJ. 139, 50 C.M.R. 655 (1975). Article 25 implies all
ranks and grades are eligible for appointment. Unit-
ed States v. Crawford, 15 U.S.C.M.A. 31, 36, 35
C.M.R. 3, 8 (1964) (2-1 decision) (Quinn, C.dJ.).

Commands have made across-the-board judg-
ments to exclude junior enlisted personnel. E.g.,
United States v. Kirkland, 53 M.J. 22 (C.A.A.F. 2000)
(Air Force; excluding personnel below master ser-
geant (E-7)). Similarly, they have limited their con-
sideration of candidates for service to officers below a
certain pay grade. In some cases, the convening au-
thority (or subordinate commands that submit nomi-
nees) may exclude personnel at both ends of the pay
table. E.g., United States v. Ward, 74 M.J. 225
(C.A.A.F. 2015) (Navy; pool limited to personnel be-

5 The Cox Commission’s 2001 report is available at
www.loc.gov/rr/frd/Military_Law/pdf/Cox-
Commission-Report-2001.pdf.
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tween chief petty officer (E-7) and commander (O-5);
United States v. Thompson, 2015 CCA LEXIS 345
(N-M. Ct. Crim. App. 2015) (same); United States v.
Hoyes, 2015 CCA LEXIS 339 (N-M. Ct. Crim. App.
2015) (same); United States v. Roland, 50 M.J. 66
(C.A.AF. 1999) (Air Force; pool limited to personnel
between staff sergeant (E-5) and colonel (O-6)).

Captain Sullivan’s case of course involves a high-
end exclusion, but analytically, it stands on the same
footing as low-end exclusions. Both violate the stat-
ute. As the cases indicate, moreover, this illegal
practice occurs, with rank parameters that vary for
no apparent reason from command to command,
throughout the armed forces. See generally 2 FRAN-
cIs A. GILLIGAN & FREDRIC I. LEDERER, COURT-
MARTIAL PROCEDURE § 15-33.00 (4th ed. 2015) (col-
lecting cases).b

C. The decision below renders illusory
the important protection Congress
conferred on military personnel
when it enacted Article 25(d)(2)

Assuming CAAF was correct not to treat Article
25(d)(2) exclusions-by-rank as structural error, the
harmlessness jurisprudence to which it clings is so
skewed that it renders illusory the statute’s central
provision and calls for correction by this Court.
CAAF’s approach sets the government’s bar for
showing harmlessness so low that it is no bar at all:

6 Captain Sullivan has never argued — and does not
contend here — that there must be admirals on court-
martial panels. They simply cannot be excluded ex
ante without any investigation into their actual
availability.
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it will invariably be met, unless this Court inter-
venes.

CAAF’s failure has two aspects. First, its cases
focus on a host of extraneous considerations to show
that the convening authority on some level deserves
a pass. Thus, it looks to whether the convening au-
thority was among the authorized convening authori-
ties, was properly advised of the statutory factors,
personally decided who should sit on the panel, acted
out of an improper motive such as stacking the panel
to the accused’s detriment, and the panel as ulti-
mately constituted was “well-balanced across gender,
racial, staff, command and branch lines.” See Bart-
lett, supra, 66 M.J. at 431. Passing over the fact that
there 1s no basis for either a “good faith exception” to
Article 25(d)(2) or a balance requirement, none of the
cited considerations are pertinent to whether those
who were selected were “best qualified” in light of the
criteria enumerated by Congress.

CAAF also claimed to look at whether the mem-
bers “all met the criteria” in Article 25. Id. On its
face, this seems responsive, except that CAAF disre-
gards the overarching “best qualified” standard.
Congress did not require convening authorities to se-
lect merely those they deemed “qualified”; it insisted
that members be those deemed “best qualified.” The
decision below lets the cat out of the bag when it ob-
serves that the convening authority “provided [Cap-
tain Sullivan] with a venire of fellow senior captains
who were fully qualified to sit on a court-martial
panel.” App. 6a (emphasis added). CAAF was not at
liberty to disregard the word “best.” Montclair v.
Ramsdell, 107 U.S. 147, 152 (1883). A person can
certainly display traits such as those Congress pre-
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scribed, but it is quite another matter to determine
that, in a necessarily comparative judgment, that in-
dividual is “best qualified” with respect to those
traits.

The second respect in which CAAF’s decision
(and the precedents on which it rests) is flawed 1s it
willingness to pile up a variety of considerations with
a view to showing that a rank-exclusion violation of
Article 25(d)(2) is harmless. CAAF pointed to five
factors as proof that the members who sat were “fair
and unbiased”:

[1] the fact that the members stated that
they would be impartial during voir dire; [2]
they were active participants throughout the
trial who posed unbiased questions during
the course of the trial; [3] they deliberated
over the course of three days before render-
ing a verdict, [4] which included an acquittal
of one charge; and [5] they imposed a lenient
sentence.

App. 7a (numbering added). The sheer number sug-
gests a certain desperation in the effort to find harm-
lessness, as does the inclusion of self-serving claims
on voir dire to be impartial.

In any event, none of the factors cited below go to
the question the court needed to address: was the vi-
olation of Article 25(d)(2) harmless? No one will ever
know what questions a panel from which admirals —
by law the best of the Coast Guard’s officer corps —
had not been excluded would have asked; how long
they would have deliberated; whether they would
have acquitted on both charges, rather than just one;
or whether they would have concluded that some
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other sentence, including one to “no punishment”
(which the UCMdJ permits, R.C.M. 1002), was war-
ranted.

In Ward, decided only a few months before Cap-
tain Sullivan’s case, CAAF upheld yet another viola-
tion of Article 25(d)(2) on harmlessness grounds. It
observed in a footnote:

This court recognizes that, under the
current state of the law, even if an appellant
establishes a violation of Article 25, UCMJ,
there exists no remedy for that violation if
the government shows it was harmless. We
note this situation to alert the Joint Service
Committee on Military Justice,[?’] in the
event it may wish to consider a recommenda-
tion [sic; presumably should read “recom-
mending”] to the President a procedure by
which the requirements of Article 25, UCMJ,
may be enforced in the absence of prejudice.

74 M.J. at 229 n.5 (footnote added).

It is comforting to know that the judges of the
court below on some level have recognized that there
is a problem lurking in the “anything goes” harmless
error jurisprudence they have fashioned for Article
25(d)(2) violations. It’s more than a lurking problem:
the case law turns the “best qualified” clause into a
dead letter. The court had the opportunity to remedy
that problem in this case (as well as in Ward). Noth-
ing in the Manual for Courts-Martial dictates the
easy road to harmlessness CAAF has paved for the
government, and we do not see why (or, for that mat-

7 See 32 C.F.R. Pt. 152 (2015).
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ter, how) the President can fix what CAAF broke
when it gave the government a free pass for exclu-
sion-by-rank violations of Article 25(d)(2).

D. The decision below undermines pub-
lic confidence in the integrity of the
judicial process

Chief Judge Erdmann’s dissent with respect to
the second Question Presented is unanswerable. The
circumstances he outlined plainly undermine public
confidence in the integrity of the judicial process in
the military justice system and would never be toler-
ated in a civilian court. The majority’s contrary con-
clusion cannot be reconciled with Liljeberg, 486 U.S.
at 858 n.7, which it cites only in connection with the
military judge’s web of personal and professional re-
lationships, App. 14a, but not, significantly, in con-
nection with his competition with Captain Sullivan
for promotion to flag grade. The judge and Captain
Sullivan (as well as all of the members) were on the
same “single active duty promotion list,” 14 U.S.C. §
41a(a), and hence were in competition for a coveted
promotion for which only very, very few are selected.
None of them ultimately got picked, but that they
were 1n competition could not be clearer, and that is
fatal.®

8 The military judge insisted that he wasn’t really in
competition unless the Coast Guard happened to
need another lawyer admiral. See App. 18a, 38a-39a.
His point — a transparent make-weight — was not
well-taken: the Coast Guard has only one flag billet
that requires a lawyer (the Judge Advocate General),
yet at the time of trial five of its scores of uniformed
lawyers either held or had been selected for flag
rank. The same is true today.
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The Coast Guard 1s a small service. Still, Con-
gress has deemed it best to allow it to maintain its
own courts and trial and appellate benches. Indeed,
considering its size, it has cast a surprisingly long
shadow over the Court’s military justice jurispru-
dence since the certiorari jurisdiction was expanded
to cover CAAF cases. See Solorio v. United States,
483 U.S. 435 (1987); Weiss v. United States, supra;
Ryder v. United States, 515 U.S. 177 (1995); Edmond
v. United States, 520 U.S. 651 (1997). Nonetheless,
the Coast Guard must live by — and be held to — the
same standards that apply to the larger armed forc-
es. After all, the Uniform Code of Military Justice is
supposed to be uniform. As Chief Judge Erdmann
noted, “[a]lnother way of looking at the issue is to
consider whether a military judge in another service,
without the size constraints of the Coast Guard,
would have recused him/herself under similar cir-
cumstances.” App. 26a n.3. That question answers
itself.

CONCLUSION

The petition for a writ of certiorari should be
granted.

Respectfully submitted.
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A general court-martial composed entirely of cap-
tains convicted Appellant, a captain in the United
States Coast Guard with more than twenty-seven
years of service, of wrongful use of cocaine in viola-
tion of Article 112a, Uniform Code of Military Justice
(UCMJ), 10 U.S.C. § 912a (2006). The court-martial
panel had no flag officers! because the convening au-
thority categorically excluded all such officers from
the member pool in violation of Article 25, UCMJ, 10
U.S.C. § 825. In addition, the military judge
acknowledged that he had prior relationships, both
professional and social, with a significant number of
the court-martial participants, but he declined to
disqualify himself from presiding over the trial.

We granted Appellant’s petition for review on the
following two issues:

I. WHETHER THE GOVERNMENT CARRIED
ITS BURDEN OF PROVING THAT THE CON-
VENING AUTHORITY’S CATEGORICAL EX-
CLUSION OF ALL FLAG OFFICERS WAS
HARMLESS.

II. WHETHER THE MILITARY JUDGE
ABUSED HIS DISCRETION IN DENYING
CHALLENGES FROM BOTH PARTIES TO HIS
IMPARTIALITY BASED ON PRIOR PERSON-
AL RELATIONSHIPS WITH INDIVIDUAL
MILITARY COUNSEL, THE ACCUSED, TRIAL

1 A flag officer is an officer of the “Coast Guard serv-
ing in or having the grade of admiral, vice admiral,
rear admiral, or rear admiral (lower half).” 10 U.S.C.
§ 101(b)(5) (2012).
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COUNSEL, SEVERAL MEMBERS, SEVERAL
WITNESSES, AND THE STAFF JUDGE AD-
VOCATE.

Upon analyzing these issues, we conclude that
under the particular circumstances of the instant
case, the convening authority’s exclusion of flag offic-
ers from the member pool was harmless. We further
conclude that the military judge’s decision not to dis-
qualify himself did not constitute an abuse of discre-
tion. Accordingly, we hold that Appellant is not enti-
tled to relief.

I. BACKGROUND

In June 2008, Appellant tested positive for co-
caine pursuant to a random urinalysis. Subsequent
tests of Appellant’s hair confirmed the presence of
cocaine. A general court-martial was convened and
at trial Appellant claimed that his positive drug test
stemmed from his wife’s admitted use of cocaine in
their household. Contrary to his plea, however, the
panel convicted Appellant of the cocaine use offense?
and sentenced him to a fine of $5,000 and a repri-
mand, which the convening authority then approved.
The acting Judge Advocate General of the Coast
Guard (TJAG) referred this case to the United States
Coast Guard Court of Criminal Appeals (CCA) for
review pursuant to Article 69(d), UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. §
869(d). The CCA affirmed the findings and sentence.

IT1. SELECTION OF MEMBERS

2 Appellant was acquitted of a charge and specifica-
tion of conduct unbecoming an officer and a gentle-
man, in violation of Article 133, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. §
933.
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A. Facts

The panel in Appellant’s case was selected from a
ten-person venire that was composed entirely of cap-
tains who had served for at least twenty-seven years
in the Coast Guard. Because of the omission of flag
officers from the member pool, Appellant moved to
dismiss his case for a violation of Article 25, UCMJ.

The military judge denied the motion because he
was not convinced that “the convening authority’s
effort to pick officers who might actually be able to
serve on the court [was] improper.” He based this
conclusion on the following findings: (1) the conven-
ing authority had been advised of the Article 25,
UCMJ, selection criteria at least six times in writing
and twice verbally; (2) the convening authority had
determined that the flag officers were not available
based on his “personal experience” and “general
knowledge” of flag officers’ duties and schedules; (3)
the convening authority had not inquired “into the
availability of any particular flag officer”’; and (4) the
convening authority had not attempted to “stack the
court with post-continuation” captains,? but instead
“was motivated by a desire to select members who”
were qualified and who were available to “actually
serve on the panel.” The military judge also found
that the convening authority “did not categorically
exclude all flag officers [from] consideration.”

3 A post-continuation captain is an officer who has
not been selected for promotion to read admiral but
has been selected tyo continue service ad as captain
with the Coast Guard. See 14 U.S.C. § 289(a). Those
captains considered, but not selected, for continua-
tion must retired. Id. § 289(g).
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On appeal the CCA concluded that the military
judge clearly erred in finding that the convening au-
thority had not categorically excluded flag officers
from the venire panel, and further concluded that
this exclusion violated Article 25, UCMdJ. However,
the CCA determined that the Government had estab-
lished that this exclusion was harmless, and it oth-
erwise adopted the military judge’s factual findings.

B. Standard of Review

We review “claims of error in the selection of
members of courts-martial de novo as questions of
law.” United States v. Bartlett, 66 M.J. 426, 427
(C.A.A.F. 2008). We also conduct a de novo review to
determine whether an error in member selection is
harmless. See United States v. Ward, 74 M.J. 225,
(7) (C.A.AF. 2015).

C. Discussion

The Government has not challenged the CCA’s
holding that the convening authority’s categorical
exclusion of flag officers from the member pool vio-
lated Article 25, UCMJ. See United States v. Kirk-
land, 53 M..J. 22, 24 (C.A.A.F. 2000); United States v.
Nixon, 33 M.J. 433, 435 (C.M.A. 1991) (“[M]ilitary
grade by itself is not a permissible criterion for selec-
tion of court-martial members.”); see also Article
25(a), (d)(2), UCMJ. Appellant raises two theories for
reversal because of this categorical exclusion: (1) the
exclusion created an appearance of unfairness; and
(2) the Government did not meet its burden of estab-
lishing the exclusion was harmless. We address each
argument in turn.

First, there is no appearance of an unfair panel
in this case. Although the convening authority devi-
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ated from the Article 25, UCMJ, criteria by categori-
cally excluding flag officers from the venire panel, he
provided Appellant with a venire of fellow senior
captains who were fully qualified to sit on a court-
martial panel. Indeed, we find no basis to conclude
that the convening authority selected the members
on any factors other than their “age, education,
training, experience, length of service, and judicial
temperament.” Article 25(d)(2), UCMd. Further, the
record provides no indication that these panel mem-
bers failed to fully, carefully, and appropriately con-
sider Appellant’s case in arriving at a verdict and
sentence. Moreover, the convening authority’s moti-
vation in excluding flag officers from this case was
not to stack the panel against Appellant. Rather, the
convening authority relied on his experience in con-
cluding that the flag officers would not be available
to actually sit on the panel and hear the case.* Unit-
ed States v. Gooch, 69 M.J. 353, 358 (C.A.A.F. 2011).
Based on these circumstances, we conclude that
there was no appearance of unfairness.

Second, the Government has met its burden of
establishing that the categorical exclusion of flag of-
ficers was harmless. See Ward, 74 M.J. at __ (9) (not-
ing Government has burden of showing Article 25,
UCMJ, violation was harmless). As discussed above,
the convening authority’s motivation in excluding
the flag officers was based on his belief that they

4 We note that instead of relying on his experience in
concluding that all of the flag officers would not be
available to serve on the panel, the convening au-
thority should have made individualized inquiries on
this point.
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would be unavailable to actually serve on the court-
martial. See Bartlett, 66 M.J. at 430 (evaluating con-
vening authority’s motivation in determining harm-
lessness). Further, the selected members, all of
whom were captains, met the Article 25, UCMJ, cri-
teria. See id. (examining whether selected members
met Article 25, UCMJ, criteria). Finally, the mem-
bers’ actions in this case demonstrate that they were
fair and unbiased. See Gooch, 69 M.J. at 361 (noting
fairness and impartiality of members in evaluating
for harmlessness). This point is underscored by the
fact that the members stated that they would be im-
partial during voir dire; they were active partici-
pants throughout the trial who posed unbiased ques-
tions during the course of the trial; they deliberated
over the course of three days before rendering a ver-
dict, which included an acquittal of one charge; and
they imposed a lenient sentence. In light of these fac-
tors, we conclude that the Government has met its
burden of establishing that the categorical exclusion
of flag officers was harmless.5

5 Although the Government has the burden with re-
spect to harmlessness, we consider, and reject, Ap-
pellant’s allegation that there was prejudice due to
the members being in the same promotion pool as
Appellant. This allegation is speculative because the
trial record does not reveal that the members acted
with any improper motive. See Bartlett, 66 M.J. at
431 n.4 (rejecting the appellant’s argument for prej-
udice in member selection case as “speculative at
best”). This allegation therefore does not demon-
strate that the Government failed to meet its burden.
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Because we find no reversible error with respect
to the member selection issue, we next examine
whether the military judge should have disqualified
himself from presiding at Appellant’s trial because of
his various connections to a number of the court-
martial participants.

III. THE MILITARY JUDGE
A. Facts

At the time of Appellant’s trial, the Coast Guard
only had one military judge certified to preside over
general courts-martial. This military judge served as
the Chief Trial Judge of the Coast Guard, had at-
tained the rank of captain, and had almost twenty-
eight years of commissioned service in the Coast

Guard.

As the military judge noted in his findings of
fact, the Coast Guard 1s a “small service with a much
smaller legal community. A large percentage of its
commissioned officers, particularly at the more sen-
ior levels, attended the Coast Guard Academy.” In-
deed, the tight-knit nature of the Coast Guard is re-
flected in the significant number of relationships
that the military judge in the instant case had with
various participants in the court-martial process, as
reflected below.

First, the military judge knew Appellant and his
wife. More than twenty years before trial, Appellant
and the military judge were stationed at the same
Coast Guard facility, and Appellant and his wife so-
cialized with a group of junior officers that included
the military judge. However, the military judge had
not had any contact with Appellant or his wife for
more than twenty years.
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Second, the military judge supervised the indi-
vidual military defense counsel (IMC) for one year in
2002, which was seven years before Appellant’s trial.
During this supervisory relationship, the military
judge and the IMC had dinner at each other’s homes
once each. The military judge and the IMC also had
a few professional contacts regarding organizational
or management issues subsequent to this superviso-
ry relationship.

It should also be noted that, after the IMC was
detailed to the instant case, he sought to resume his
prior status as a collateral duty special court-martial
military judge in early 2009. However, although the
military judge, as the chief trial judge, ordinarily
would make recommendations about the special
court-martial judges, he recused himself from the
IMC’s request.

Third, the staff judge advocate (SJA) to the con-
vening authority was serving as a collateral-duty
special court-martial military judge. As the chief tri-
al judge in the Coast Guard, the military judge had
“managerial oversight” of the SJA in the SJA’s ca-
pacity as a military judge. The military judge also
knew of the SJA through conferences, trainings, and
meetings.

Fourth, the military judge and trial counsel had
professional contacts stemming from a different
court-martial. The military judge described his pro-
fessional relationship with trial counsel as “some
very limited involvement in a contested members
case.”

Fifth, the military judge also had a professional
relationship with the senior assistant trial counsel
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(ATC) concerning the ATC’s role as Chief of the Of-
fice of Military Justice at Coast Guard Headquarters
who had the primary responsibility for military jus-
tice policy. At the time of Appellant’s trial, this office
was in the process of revising the Coast Guard’s mili-
tary justice manual. The military judge had suggest-
ed changes to the manual, but he did not discuss Ap-
pellant’s case with the ATC and instead directed his
comments to the ATC’s deputy once he learned of the
ATC’s role in this case.

Sixth, the military judge had “professional and
work-related social contacts” with CAPT Kenney, a
defense witness and the initial defense counsel, be-
ginning in 2004. The military judge’s most frequent
contacts with CAPT Kenney occurred between 2006
and 2008 when CAPT Kenney was a field SJA and
the military judge was the Chief of the Office of Le-
gal Policy & Program Development at Coast Guard
Headquarters (LPD), the position that CAPT Kenney
transferred to following the military judge’s depar-
ture. As the Chief of the LPD, the military judge’s job
was to support the field SJAs, which meant he spent
“a lot of time on the phone” with SJAs, including
CAPT Kenney. The military judge also was in charge
of assignments, which led to discussions with CAPT
Kenney about the needs of the SJA office and CAPT
Kenney’s own assignments. The military judge en-
couraged CAPT Kenney to replace him as the Chief
of the LPD and made a recommendation to this ef-
fect. Since the parties did not inform the military
judge about CAPT Kenney’s role as a fact witness in
this case until late March 2009, the military judge’s
professional contacts with CAPT Kenney lasted
through February 2009 and concerned the selection
of new collateral duty special court-martial military
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judges. However, the military judge and CAPT Ken-
ney never discussed Appellant’s case.

Seventh, the military judge had relationships
with other court-martial participants and potential
witnesses that arose from the military judge’s at-
tendance at the Coast Guard Academy in the late
1970s and early 1980s and/or from his professional
duties during his lengthy service in the Coast Guard.

Eighth, the military judge’s direct supervisor was
TJAG. The military judge never discussed particular
cases with TJAG, including this case. However, the
military judge contacted the deputy judge advocate
general (DJAG) during Appellant’s case so that
DJAG would give TJAG “a heads-up” about being a
potential witness for motions in this case. The mili-
tary judge explained that his contact with DJAG was
“[jlust a courtesy” to notify TJAG about the situation.
The military judge stated he would not have done
this for another witness because he did not “work for
any other witness.”

Ninth, certain individuals detailed to the original
or amended member pools also knew the military
judge as a classmate at the Coast Guard Academy
and/or through working relationships. One of these
members stated that his prior association with the
military judge would keep him from following the
military judge’s instructions.6

6 This individual ultimately was not selected as part
of the final member pool. It is unclear from the rec-
ord whether his response to this question was a ty-
pographical error.
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Because of the members’ familiarity with him,
the military judge stated that he understood “the
government’s concern with getting members who
[could] . . . follow [his] instructions as they're re-
quired to do.” To try to alleviate this concern and to
help the Government assemble a panel, the military
judge stated that he would “try to find a senior judge
from another service.” Regarding this point, the mili-
tary judge had the following exchange with the IMC:

IMC: If I may ask a question, sir. Maybe
I just don’t get it, but why would you do that?

[Military Judge]: As a matter of conven-
ience for the -- essentially, I guess, the gov-
ernment, who has to produce a panel.

IMC: Because of the concern that they
would not be able to produce enough people
based on some of the arguments that came
up here today, because of [the] relationship
with you or [the] perceived relationship with
you?

[Military Judge]: Whatever their con-
cerns are -- and you've articulated concerns
too. Again, it would be a matter of conven-
ience to say, you know what, we think, if you
have this, then it makes . . . our life easier.

The military judge later informed the parties
that his inquiries for a replacement military judge
ultimately “didn’t pan out” due to issues with “the
motions practice, the posture and the timing.”

The Government, with Appellant’s concurrence,
filed a “Motion for Recusal of the Military Judge.”
The Government’s request was based on an appear-
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ance of bias stemming from the military judge’s rela-
tionships with various court-martial participants.
Appellant agreed with the Government’s motion and,
in a separate filing, noted that this appearance of bi-
as was exacerbated by the fact that the military
judge was in the same promotion zone as Appellant,
this case had high visibility, and TJAG was the mili-
tary judge’s direct supervisor.

After an extensive proffer by the military judge
and a colloquy between the military judge and the
parties, the military judge denied the motion for dis-
qualification. The military judge explained that his
prior relationships with a number of the court-
martial participants did not raise an appearance of
bias because the “vast majority” of contacts occurred
at routine work-related events and the social con-
tacts were minimal and distant in time. He also stat-
ed that the issue of competing with Appellant for a
promotion was “illusory,” and he noted that he had
“more prior contacts with the [d]efense side” than
with the Government side.

B. Standard of Review

Our review of a military judge’s disqualification
decision is for an abuse of discretion. United States v.
Mcllwain, 66 M.J. 312, 314 (C.A.A.F. 2008); United
States v. Quintanilla, 56 M.J. 37, 77 (C.A.A.F. 2001).
A military judge’s ruling constitutes an abuse of dis-
cretion if it i1s “arbitrary, fanciful, clearly unreasona-
ble or clearly erroneous,” not if this Court merely
would reach a different conclusion. United States v.
Brown, 72 M.J. 359, 362 (C.A.A.F. 2013) (internal
quotation marks and citation omitted).
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Appellant does not claim that the military judge
in his case was actually biased, only that the military
judge’s presence raised an appearance of bias under
Rule for Courts-Martial (R.C.M.) 902(a).” We apply
an objective standard for identifying an appearance
of bias by asking whether a reasonable person know-
ing all the circumstances would conclude that the
military judge’s impartiality might reasonably be
questioned. Hasan, 71 M.J. at 418. Recusal based on
an appearance of bias “is intended to ‘promote public
confidence in the integrity of the judicial process.”
Id. (quoting Liljeberg v. Health Servs. Acquisition
Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 858 n.7 (1988)). However, this
“appearance standard does not require judges to live
in an environment sealed off from the outside world.”
United States v. Butcher, 56 M.J. 87, 91 (C.A.A.F.
2001). Although a military judge is to “broadly con-
strue” the grounds for challenge, he should not leave
the case “unnecessarily.” R.C.M. 902(d)(1) Discus-
sion.

C. Overview

As can be seen by the facts recited above, the
military judge had professional and/or social contacts
with a significant number of the court-martial partic-
ipants in this case. Under these circumstances it
could fairly be argued that the military judge should

7 This rule states: “A military judge shall disqualify
himself . . . in any proceeding in which that military
judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned.”
R.C.M. 902(a).
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have disqualified himself out of a sense of prudence.8
However, as also noted above, that is not the stand-
ard of review we are obligated to apply in deciding
such cases on appeal. Rather, we are required to ap-
ply an abuse of discretion standard in determining
whether the military judge’s decision not to disquali-
fy himself was error.

In analyzing this issue, we note at the outset the
following points: the military judge fully disclosed his
relationships with the participants in the court-
martial; the record reveals no evidence of any actual
bias on the part of the military judge, or of any other
actions or rulings by the military judge that would
independently raise appearance issues; and the mili-
tary judge fully heard the views of both parties on
this issue and then affirmatively stated on the record
that he could remain impartial to both sides. Accord-
ingly, under these particular circumstances we con-
clude that the military judge’s disqualification deci-
sion was not “arbitrary, fanciful, clearly unreasona-
ble, or clearly erroneous.” Brown, 72 at 362 (internal
quotation marks and citation omitted).

D. Discussion

We find no abuse of discretion in the military
judge’s failure to disqualify himself for the following
reasons. First, the military judge specifically stated

8 Cf. United States v. Gorski, 48 M.J. 317 (C.A.A.F.
1997) (noting in a memorandum opinion by Judge
Effron that when recusal is interjected into the pro-
ceedings and recusal is not required as a matter of
law, a judge must still decide if recusal is appropri-
ate as a matter of discretion).
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on the record that none of his associations with
court-martial participants would influence any of his
decisions in Appellant’s case. See United States v.
Wright, 52 M.J. 136, 141 (C.A.A.F. 1999) (“[D]espite
an objective standard, the judge’s statements con-
cerning his intentions and the matters upon which
he will rely are not irrelevant to the inquiry.”).

Second, Appellant has not identified any conduct
by the military judge which tends to demonstrate
that he inappropriately influenced the panel in this
case. Indeed, the panel’s active participation, lengthy
deliberations, and lenient sentence seem to under-
score the point that they acted independently in this
matter.

Third, although the military judge had to resolve
a number of pretrial motions, Appellant has not
pointed to any rulings that raise appearance con-
cerns.

Fourth, we note that “[p]ersonal relationships be-
tween members of the judiciary and witnesses or
other participants in the court-martial process do not
necessarily require disqualification.” Norfleet, 53
M.d. at 270. Further, “a former professional relation-
ship is not per se disqualifying.” Wright, 52 M.d. at
141.

Here, the military judge was forthcoming and
catalogued his relationships with the participants in
the trial and subjected himself to voir dire on this
subject. As the summary of these relationships out-
lined above demonstrates, most of the military
judge’s contacts were professional and routine in na-
ture. Further, although “a social relationship creates
special concerns,” those relationships that had a so-
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cial component occurred years prior to the court-
martial and were not close or intimate. Cf. United
States v. Sherrod, 26 M.J. 30, 31 & n.2 (C.M.A. 1988)
(agreeing with lower court that military judge was
disqualified where victim was a close friend of the
military judge’s thirteen-year-old daughter with
whom the military judge had socialized); United
States v. Berman, 28 M.dJ. 615, 618 (A.F.C.M.R. 1989)
(en banc) (finding intimate relationship between mil-
itary judge and trial counsel in appellants’ courts-
martial required disqualification). In regard to the
military judge’s decision to notify DJAG that TJAG
might by a witness for some motions in this case,
although this step may have been ill-advised, we find
an insufficient basis to conclude that it reasonably
brought into question the military judge’s impartiali-

ty.

We note that in certain circumstances, the cumu-
lative nature of a military judge’s relationships can
create an appearance issue. See United States v. De-
Temple, 162 F.3d 279, 287 (4th Cir. 1998) (“[A] con-
fluence of facts [may] create a reason for questioning
a judge’s impartiality, even though none of those
facts, in isolation, necessitates recusal.”); see also
United States v. Amico, 486 F.3d 764, 776 (2d Cir.
2007) (noting that recusal is warranted when “in the
aggregate, the [circumstances of the case] would lead
a disinterested observer to conclude that the appear-
ance of partiality existed”). However, in the instant
case the number and type of contacts that the mili-
tary judge had with the participants in the court-
martial appear to simply be the natural consequence
of the military judge’s length of service in the rela-
tively small Coast Guard, and we do not find a suffi-
cient basis to conclude that a reasonable person fa-
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miliar with all the circumstances in this case would
conclude that the “military judge’s impartiality
might reasonably be questioned.” R.C.M. 902(a); see
DeTemple, 162 F.3d at 287 (“[O]ther things being
equal, the more common a potentially biasing cir-
cumstance and the less easily avoidable it seems, the
less that circumstance will appear to a knowledgea-
ble observer as a sign of partiality.” (quoting In re
Allied-Signal Inc., 891 F.2d 967, 971 (1st Cir.
1989))).

Appellant cites three circumstances of this case
that, in his view, serve to increase the appearance of
bias. Appellant first argues that the military judge
and Appellant were both captains subject to promo-
tion, and thus were in competition with one another
for one of the coveted flag officer slots. However, the
military judge “disclaimed” any potential conflict,
and noted that as a judge advocate, he would not be
in competition for the same promotion as Appellant
who was not a judge advocate. We agree with the
military judge that this potential promotion conflict
was “lllusory” and did not create an appearance of
bias.

Appellant next contends that the parties’ joint
request for disqualification demonstrates that the
circumstances of the case raised an appearance of
bias problem. We agree that the parties’ joint request
did provide support for disqualification under R.C.M.
902(a) because a “disinterested observer would have
noted that the government joined the [accused’s] mo-
tions for recusal -- a very unusual development
demonstrating that all parties were seriously con-
cerned about the appearance of partiality.” Amico,
486 F.3d at 776. Indeed, we caution military judges
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to be especially circumspect in deciding whether to
disqualify themselves in such instances. Neverthe-
less, after considering the circumstances surround-
ing the basis for the disqualification request in the
instant case, we again do not find an adequate basis
to conclude that the military judge abused his discre-
tion when he decided not to disqualify himself.

Appellant finally argues that under Mcllwain,
the military judge’s statement about inquiring into
the availability of a military judge from another mili-
tary service is evidence that the military judge him-
self recognized that there was an appearance of bias.
In Mcllwain, we found that the military judge
abused her discretion in not disqualifying herself be-
cause she stated: “[H]er participation would suggest
to an impartial person looking in that I can’t be im-
partial in this case.” 66 M.J. at 314 (internal quota-
tion marks omitted). However, the military judge’s
statements in this case about inquiring into the
availability of a military judge from another armed
service are distinguishable from those in Mcllwain.
Specifically, these statements were meant to address
the Government’s concern about the efforts they
would have to undertake to assemble an impartial
member pool, which deals with an issue of member
bias, not military judge bias. Further, unlike the mil-
itary judge in Mcllwain, the military judge in Appel-
lant’s case specifically rejected the notion that there
was an appearance problem:

[D]Jo I believe [the multiple relationships
with court-martial participants] creates an
appearance of bias or impartiality in favor or
against the accused? No, I don’t. I mean obvi-
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ously I would have disqualified myself if I
did.

Thus the military judge’s statement regarding
inquiring about military judge availability from oth-
er armed services does not conclusively raise any ap-
pearance of bias concerns.

We therefore conclude that under the circum-
stances of Appellant’s case, the military judge acted
within his discretion in finding that his various rela-
tionships with court-martial participants did not
constitute a basis for disqualification.

CONCLUSION

We conclude that neither the manner of the
member selection nor the presence of the military
judge in this case warrants reversal. The decision of
the United States Coast Guard Court of Criminal
Appeals is therefore affirmed.

ERDMANN, Chief Judge (concurring in part and
dissenting in part):

I concur with the majority’s decision on Issue I,
that under our precedent, the violation of Article 25,
UCMd, was harmless. However, I respectfully dis-
sent from its determination that the military judge
did not abuse his discretion when he denied the mo-
tions of both parties to recuse himself. The military
judge in this case had a personal or professional rela-
tionship with nearly everyone involved in the court-
martial process, to include the Staff Judge Advocate
who advised the convening authority, the Article 32
hearing officer, the trial counsel, the assistant trial
counsel, the defense counsel, three defense witness-
es, the Judge Advocate General (TJAG) (his supervi-
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sor and a potential witness), the panel members, and
the accused himself. Additionally, the military judge
found himself in the same promotion pool as the ac-
cused. At some point, too much is simply too much.

Sullivan argues that in light of these facts, the
military judge’s failure to recuse himself resulted in
an appearance of bias. This is an issue we have ad-
dressed many times.

In the military context, the appearance of
bias principle is derived from R.C.M. 902(a):
“A military judge shall disqualify himself . . .
in any proceeding in which that military
judge’s impartiality might reasonably be
questioned.” The standard for identifying the
appearance is objective: “[a]ny conduct that
would lead a reasonable man knowing all the
circumstances to the conclusion that the
judge’s impartiality might reasonably be
questioned.” Kincheloe, 14 M.J. at 50 (altera-
tion in original) (internal quotation marks
omitted). As in the civilian context, recusal
based on the appearance of bias is intended
to “promote public confidence in the integrity
of the judicial process.” Liljeberg v. Health
Servs. Acquisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 858
n.7 (1988). “[W]hat matters is not the reality
of bias or prejudice but its appearance.”
Liteky v. United States, 510 U.S. 540, 548
(1994). In the military justice system, where
the charges are necessarily brought by the
commander against subordinates and where,
pursuant to Article 25, UCMJ, 10 U.S.C. §
825 (2006), the convening authority is re-
sponsible for selecting the members, military
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judges serve as the independent check on the
integrity of the court-martial process. The va-
lidity of this system depends on the impar-
tiality of military judges in fact and in ap-
pearance.

Hasan v. Gross, 71 M.J. 416, 418-19 (C.A.A.F. 2012).

As noted by the majority, at the time of Sulli-
van’s trial, the military judge was the only member
of the United States Coast Guard authorized to pre-
side over general courts-martial. It appears this sit-
uation 1s due to the Coast Guard’s relatively small
active-duty size. Nevertheless, “[a]n accused has a
constitutional right to an impartial judge,” United
States v. Martinez, 70 M.J. 154, 157 (C.A.A.F. 2011)
(citation omitted), and there exists no exception for
the Coast Guard because of its small size. This, of
course, 1s because

[t]he neutrality [of an impartial judge] re-
quired by constitutional due process

helps to guarantee that life, liberty, or
property will not be taken on the basis of
an erroneous or distorted conception of the
facts or the law. At the same time, it pre-
serves both the appearance and reality of
fairness . ...

The appearance standard helps to enhance
confidence in the fairness of the proceedings
because in matters of bias, the line between
appearance and reality is often barely dis-
cernible.
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United States v. Butcher, 56 M.J. 87, 90 (C.A.A.F.
2001) (citation omitted).

Certainly “[p]ersonal relationships between
members of the judiciary and witnesses or other par-
ticipants in the court-martial process do not neces-
sarily require disqualification.” United States v. Nor-
fleet, 53 M.J. 262, 270 (C.A.A.F. 2000). Nevertheless,
it remains important to remember that “the inter-
play of social and professional relationships in the
armed forces poses particular challenges for the mili-
tary judiciary.” Butcher, 56 M.J. at 91. These chal-
lenges exist whether the case is tried before mem-
bers or before a military judge alone. See United
States v. Mcllwain, 66 M.J. 312, 314 (C.A.A.F. 2008)
(“[T]f a judge is disqualified to sit as a judge alone,
[s]he 1s also disqualified to sit with members.”) (al-
teration in original) (internal quotation marks and
citation omitted). This is because it “is well-settled in
military law that the military judge is more than a
mere referee.” Id.

Unlike previous cases we have considered, the
military judge in this case had a personal or profes-
sional relationship with virtually every individual
involved in the court-martial process. The military
judge recognized that these relationships were signif-
icant when he spent eighteen pages of the record list-
ing them. Then, in response to written questions
posed by the government, the military judge contin-
ued on the record for approximately fourteen more
pages. For the next thirty-five pages, the government
and the defense verbally voir dired the military
judge. At the conclusion of voir dire, both parties had
sufficient concerns that they moved for the military
judge to recuse himself.
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The voir dire also revealed a situation involving
the relationship between the military judge and the
Coast Guard TJAG. The military judge reported di-
rectly to TJAG, who signed the military judge’s per-
formance report. When it appeared that TJAG might
be called as a witness, the military judge made a call
to the Deputy Judge Advocate General (DJAG) to
give TJAG a “heads-up.” When asked by the defense
whether the military judge would have done that for
any other witness, the military judge replied
“[p]robably not, because I don’t work for any other
witness.” Also of concern to an objective observer is
the fact that the military judge was in the same
promotion pool as Sullivan.!

Despite all of this, the military judge failed to
recognize that these multiple relationships would
lead a reasonable person, knowing all the circum-
stances, to the conclusion that the military judge’s
impartiality might reasonably be questioned. United
States v. Kincheloe, 14 M.dJ. 40, 50 (C.M.A. 1982). In-
stead, he stated he would seek out other potential
military judges from the sister services “as a matter
of helping both sides [to] find it easier to pick a court-
martial panel” and as “a matter of convenience.”
When asked by the defense why the military judge
would do so if he did not believe there was a problem,
the military judge reiterated that it was a matter of

1 While there is conflicting evidence regarding
whether Sullivan would remain in the promotion
pool during the court-martial, assuming he was tem-
porarily removed from the pool for the pendency of
the court-martial, a conviction would remove him
from the pool permanently.
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convenience.? Under these circumstances a reasona-
ble person, knowing all the circumstances, might
harbor doubts about military judge’s impartiality.
See Martinez, 70 M.dJ. at 158; Butcher, 56 M.J. at 91.

That said, this court has also “recognized that
not every judicial disqualification error requires re-
versal and has adopted the standards the Supreme
Court announced in Liljeberg v. Health Services Ac-
quisition Corp., 486 U.S. 847, 864 (1988), for deter-
mining whether a judge’s disqualification under 28
U.S.C. § 455(a) (2000), warrants a remedy.” Mcll-
wain, 66 M.J. at 315. The Liljeberg factors include:
“1) the risk of injustice to the parties, 2) the risk that
the denial of relief will produce injustice in other
cases, and 3) the risk of undermining public confi-
dence in the judicial process.” Id.

It is the third Liljeberg factor that is relevant to
this inquiry. Is there a risk of undermining the pub-
lic’s confidence in the military justice system where
the judge knows almost everyone in the proceeding,

2 While the military judge indicated that he would
pursue this informal attempt to remedy the situa-
tion, his efforts apparently failed due to his insist-
ence that the new military judge be available for tri-
al on certain dates. However, “[o]nce recused, a mili-
tary judge should not play any procedural or sub-
stantive role with regard to the matter about which
he 1s recused.” United States v. Roach, 69 M.J. 17, 20
(C.A.A.F. 2010); see also Walker v. United States, 60
M.J. 354, 358 (C.A.A.F. 2004) (“When a judge is
recused, the judge should not take action to influence
the appointment of his or her replacement.”). In oth-
er words, any new judge appointed would be respon-
sible for determining an appropriate trial date.
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1s in the same promotion pool as the accused, and
has contacted his boss, who was a potential witness,
to give him a “heads-up”? I believe there is. Adding
to the lack of public confidence is that the matter
could have been resolved by making a formal request
for a military judge to the Judge Advocate General of
a sister service. See Rule for Courts-Martial
503(b)(3). The failure to remedy the issue when it
was relatively easy to do so could only create addi-
tional doubt in the public’s mind.3

For these reasons I believe that a reasonable
person, knowing all the circumstances, might rea-
sonably question the military judge’s impartiality.
Consequently, the military judge’s failure to recuse
himself undermined public confidence in the integri-
ty of the military justice system. Accordingly, I re-
spectfully dissent from the majority as to Issue II.

3 Another way of looking at the issue is to consider
whether a military judge in another service, without
the size constraints of the Coast Guard, would have
recused him/herself under similar circumstances.
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McCLELLAND, Chief Judge:

Appellant was tried by general court-martial
composed of officer members. Contrary to his pleas,
Appellant was convicted of one specification of
wrongful use of cocaine, in violation of Article 112a,
Uniform Code of Military Justice (UCMdJ). The court
sentenced Appellant to a fine of $5,000 and a repri-
mand. The Convening Authority approved the sen-
tence. The Acting Judge Advocate General referred
the case to this Court under Article 69(d).

Before this Court, Appellant has assigned the fol-
lowing errors:

I. The military judge erred by not ordering a new
panel of members be convened after the Conven-
ing Authority categorically excluded flag officers
from Appellant’s court-martial.

I1. The military judge abused his discretion by
failing to recuse himself in light of Appellant’s
motion.

ITII. The military judge erred by allowing an ex-
pert witness to give improper rebuttal testimony
about the profile of cocaine drug users.

IV. The military judge erred by denying the de-
fense motion in limine to exclude all evidence
from Psychemedics, including the testimony of
Psychemedics’ expert, because the company did
not produce its standard operating procedures
governing hair testing for cocaine.

V. The staff judge advocate and deputy staff judge
advocate testified to contested matters in a pre-
trial Article 39(a) hearing. Therefore, they were
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disqualified from providing post-trial advice to
the Convening Authority.

VI. The evidence with regard to charge I and its
sole specification was legally insufficient in that it
did not show that Appellant had used cocaine.

VII. The military judge erred by denying Appel-
lant’s motion for additional peremptory challeng-
es based on the Convening Authority’s exclusion
of court-martial members based on improper se-
lection criteria.

We reject the sixth assignment summarily. We
discuss all the others and affirm.

Summary of facts

Appellant, a Coast Guard captain (O-6) with over
twenty-six years of service, tested positive for cocaine
upon urinalysis in June 2008. (R. at 795.) Thereafter,
with his consent, a sample of his hair was tested by
Psychemedics Corporation and tested positive for co-
caine. (Prosecution Ex. 1.) Appellant then had the
hair of his wife and two daughters tested, and his
wife’s hair tested positive for cocaine at a high level.
(R. at 1310-11, 1713; Defense Ex. O.) One daughter’s
hair tested positive at a low level, the other daugh-
ter’s hair tested negative. (R. at 1713; Defense Ex.
0.

Appellant asserts that he was prejudiced by the
improper exclusion of flag officers from service on his
court-martial.

Panel selection 1s reviewed de novo. United
States v. Gooch, 69 M.J. 353, 358 (C.A.A.F. 2011) (cit-
ing United States v. Dowty, 60 M.J. 163, 171
(C. AL AF. 2004)). We are bound by the military
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judge’s findings of fact unless they are clearly erro-
neous. Id. An improper motive to “pack” the member
pool is not tolerated, and systemic exclusion of oth-
erwise qualified potential members based on rank,
race or gender or the like is improper, but good-faith
attempts to include all segments of the military
community receive deference. Id.

The court-martial panel consisted of ten Coast
Guard captains (0O-6).! Testimony from three wit-
nesses describing statements by the Convening Au-
thority and a stipulation of expected testimony of the
Convening Authority provide the following thoughts
as to why no flag officers (O-7 and above) were in-
cluded.

First, the Convening Authority, a vice admiral
(0-9), was soon to be the Vice Commandant of the
Coast Guard. In that capacity, he would be responsi-
ble for assigning the other flag officers to billets. He
did not want to appoint flag officers to the court-
martial whom he would later be assigning to billets.2
(Deputy SJA, R. at 288, 290; SJA, R. at 293.)

1 A few members were replaced by other captains
through amendments. Eight members remained on
the panel after challenges.

2 Presumably this was to avoid having officers on the
panel who would seek to please him in advance of fu-
ture assignment decisions. It should be noted that
the initial pool selected by the convening authority in
response to the SJA’s request dated 29 August 2008
(to whom member questionnaire forms were to be
provided for completion) consisted of three flag offic-
ers (0-7 & 0-8) and seventeen captains. (Appellate
Ex. 101 at Attachment 4.) The panel was finalized as
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Second, the Convening Authority speculated
“that seating a flag officer on a panel might unduly
sway other members.” (Convening Authority’s execu-
tive assistant, R. at 300).

Third, the Convening Authority wanted to be
considerate of flag officers’ time demands, and ex-
pected availability issues if he appointed any flag of-
ficers to the court-martial. (Appellate Ex. 107.)

The military judge found as follows, inter alia.
The Convening Authority was properly advised of
the Article 25 selection criteria several times, includ-
ing when he picked an initial pool of possible mem-
bers and when he chose the panel of ten. (R. at 386.)
“[T]here was no evidence of an attempt . . . to pack
the court with members who would favor the prose-
cution, a severe sentence or both. The convening au-
thority knew and applied the Article 25 statutory cri-
teria when selecting members” for the convening or-
der for this case. (R. at 388.) These findings are sup-
ported by evidence and are not clearly erroneous.
Also not clearly erroneous is his finding that “[t]he
convening authority’s consideration of flag officer
availability for court member duties was motivated
by a desire to select members who would actually
serve on the panel, as opposed to officers who would
be detailed and then excused because they were not
available.” (R. at 391.)

General Court-Martial Convening Order No. 1-09
dated 13 January 2009. In the interval between the
two dates, the Convening Authority had been select-
ed to serve as the Vice Commandant, according to
ALCOAST 555/08, COMDT COGARD R 101929 NOV
08 (Appellate Ex. 105 at Attachment 8).
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However, the finding that the convening authori-
ty “did not categorically exclude all flag officers for
consideration” (R. at 392) is inconsistent with his
further finding that “his consideration of flag officer
availability to actually serve on the court without de-
termining the actual availability of any particular
officer resulted in the exclusion of all flag officers” (R.
at 392) and is clearly erroneous.

In short, it must be acknowledged that the Con-
vening Authority categorically excluded all flag offic-
ers from membership on the court-martial. Hence
there was error. Gooch, 69 M.J. at 358; United States
v. Kirkland, 53 M.J. 22 (C.A.A.F. 2000). Where a
convening authority intentionally excludes certain
classes of individuals, the burden is on the Govern-
ment to demonstrate lack of harm. United States v.
Bartlett, 66 M.dJ. 426, 430 (C.A.A.F. 2008).

We believe the Government has met its burden
in this case. As found by the military judge, the Con-
vening Authority was properly advised of the Article
25 selection criteria several times, including when he
picked an initial pool of possible members and when
he chose a final panel of ten; there was no evidence of
an attempt to pack the court with members who
would favor the prosecution, a severe sentence or
both; and the convening authority knew and applied
the Article 25 statutory criteria when selecting
members for this case. See Gooch, 69 M.J. at 361.
The three considerations that led to the exclusion of
flag officers of which there is evidence — the Conven-
ing Authority’s future assignment responsibilities,
the possibility of a flag officer’s undue influence on
other members, and expected availability issues —
are not improper ones, but are benign. See Bartlett,
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66 M.J. at 431. In contrast to reported cases in which
error was found based on rank exclusion, this is not a
case of excluding lower-ranking personnel but of ex-
cluding higher-ranking personnel. See United States
v. Kirkland, 53 M.J. 22 (C.A.A.F. 2000); United
States v. Roland, 50 M.d. 66 (C.A.A.F. 1999); United
States v. Upshaw, 49 M.J. 111 (C.A.A.F. 1998); Unit-
ed States v. McClain, 22 M.J. 124 (C.M.A. 1986);
United States v. Daigle, 1 M.J. 139 (C.M.A. 1975).
Exclusion of lower-ranking personnel invites the
suspicion that avoidance of light sentences is intend-
ed; this intention was explicit in McClain. No such
“court-packing” intention or appearance 1s reasona-
bly to be inferred from exclusion of higher-ranking
personnel. Finally, the panel by which Appellant was
tried was fair and impartial.3 See Gooch, 69 M.J. at
361.

Appellant contends that the members were all in
direct competition with him for selection to flag of-
ficer, and thus may have had a motive to decide ad-
versely to him so as to remove a potential rival and
incrementally improve their chances for selection to
flag rank; and that therefore the Government cannot
meet its burden of demonstrating lack of harm. This

3 The panel deliberated for more than fourteen hours
before returning a verdict; that verdict resulted in
conviction on the sole specification of wrongful use of
cocaine, but acquitted Appellant of the only other
specification against him, conduct unbecoming an
officer. We also note the relatively benign sentence
the members imposed.
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point was not developed at trial.* Whether the mem-
bers likely or actually saw themselves as being in
competition with Appellant is speculative; we do not
believe it rises to a level that precludes a finding of
no harm. We are convinced that the error in categor-
ically excluding flag officers from the panel was
harmless.

Appellant also complains, in Assignment VII,
that the Convening Authority excluded potential
members from the panel “based on their possible
knowledge of Appellant and their specific billets.”
(Assignment of Errors and Brief at 46.) One member
was removed from the panel by Amendment No. 2 to
the Convening Order after identifying himself as
“classmate and close friend of the defendant.” (Appel-
late Ex. 105 at Attachment 19; R. at 387 (military
judge’s findings of fact).) A potential member was not
placed on the panel after, as the military judge not-
ed, mentioning her “prior involvement in the case as
the commandant’s [executive assistant].” (R. at 387.)>
Two other members were removed from the panel by

4 What could not have been known at trial but is eas-
ily ascertainable now is that all members of the
court-martial eventually retired as captains (O-6).

5 The finding of fact misstates her prior role as
“involvement”; her court-member questionnaire
states that she had “had extensive discussions” with
Appellant’s apparent supervisor (the person who tes-
tified at trial that he received the urinalysis results
and informed Appellant he had tested positive (R. at
795-97)) and with the senior assistant trial counsel.
(Appellate Ex. 105 at Attachment 19.)
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Amendment No. 1 to the Convening Order after they
each indicated that they would be assuming new du-
ties in Chief of Staff positions at the time of or short-
ly before the trial. (Appellate Ex. 101 at Attachment
8.) Appellant cites Gooch for the proposition that ex-
clusion of potential members based on their possible
knowledge of an accused is improper, and argues
that similarly, a potential member’s billet should be
regarded as an improper basis for exclusion.

The court in Gooch held “that possible personal
knowledge of the case or the accused, based on con-
temporaneous service alone, is not a proper basis for
screening potential members under Article 25,
UCMSd.” Gooch, 69 M.dJ. at 360. This does not support
the proposition that actual personal knowledge of the
case or the accused is not a proper basis for screen-
ing. In this case, actual personal knowledge was the
basis for excusing the first two officers described in
the preceding paragraph. We know of no principle
under which this would be considered improper. In
the absence of any such principle, and with due re-
gard for Rules for Courts-Martial® (R.C.M.)
505(c)(1)(A), which allows the convening authority to
change the members of the court-martial before the
court-martial is assembled without showing cause,
we conclude that it was proper.

Likewise, we see no reason to criticize the Con-
vening Authority’s apparent decision to remove two

6 Rules for Courts-Martial, Manual for Courts-
Martial, United States (2008 ed.). The provisions of
the Manual for Courts-Martial cited in this opinion
are identical in the 2008 and 2012 editions.
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members from the panel because of their new, de-
manding duties as chiefs of staff without requiring
precise information concerning schedule conflicts.
The military judge took a broad view of “ongoing re-
lief of military duties” as justification for excusing a
member. (R. at 388.) This was not error. See Gooch,
69 M.J. at 358 (availability in the military context is
an appropriate screening factor).

There was no error in the Convening Authority’s
decisions to exclude the specified members from the
panel, and thus they provide no basis for granting
the defense additional peremptory challenges. Appel-
lant cites no case or other support for the military
judge to have granted additional peremptory chal-
lenges. The military judge did not abuse his discre-
tion by declining to do so.

Military Judge’s decision not to recuse himself

Appellant asserts that the military judge was
disqualified, and erred by failing to recuse himself. A
military judge’s decision on the issue of recusal is re-
versed only for abuse of discretion. United States v.
Mcllwain, 66 M.J. 312, 314 (C.A.A.F. 2008). The 1s-
sue is viewed objectively. Id. Military judges should
broadly construe possible reasons for disqualifica-
tion, but also should not recuse themselves unneces-
sarily. Id.

Before trial, the Government moved for the mili-
tary judge to recuse himself. (Appellate Ex. 9.) The
defense concurred. (Appellate Ex. 10.) The military
judge’s disclosures on the record during an Article
39(b) session two months before trial revealed the
following connections with personnel involved in the
case. More than twenty years before the trial, the



38a

military judge was stationed in the same location as
Appellant, and they were part of a group of junior
officers and spouses who socialized together, but the
military judge had had no contact of any kind with
Appellant or his wife for twenty-one years afterward.
(R. at 18-21.) The military judge supervised the indi-
vidual military defense counsel (IMC) for one year
ending seven years before trial, during which they
had dinner at each other’s home once each, and had
had a few professional contacts with each other since
then. (R. at 21-22, 32.) The Staff Judge Advocate
(SJA) to the Convening Authority was a collateral-
duty special court-martial judge, in which capacity
the military judge had “managerial oversight” over
him, but this collateral duty was ending. (R. at 16,
102.) By its terms, this managerial oversight did not
extend to his duties or service as the SJA. The mili-
tary judge had had recent professional contacts with
trial counsel, in relation to a different trial, and the
more senior assistant trial counsel, in relation to
administrative duties.” (R. at 17-18.) The military
judge discussed his relationships with various pro-
spective witnesses, including two officers senior to
him, two senior (O-6) judge advocates, Appellant’s
wife, and a special agent, none of which was note-
worthy. (R. at 34-37.)

The military judge also noted that he and Appel-
lant were both eligible for selection for promotion to
rear admiral. (R. at 28.) He declared that this would
not influence any of his decisions in the case; he also

7 We consider these contacts with the SJA and both
trial counsel as routine contacts with legal profes-
sionals that need no further discussion.
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made it clear that, as a judge advocate, he did not
view himself as competing with Appellant for promo-
tion. (R. at 28.)

The Government’s voir dire of the military judge
also sought to develop information about his rela-
tionships with members of the court-martial. Accord-
ing to the member questionnaires, some of the mem-
bers were his Academy classmates, and others were
Academy upperclassmen with respect to him. (Appel-
late Exs. 23-42.)8 Beyond such information that was
already available, the military judge declined to de-
tail his contacts with potential members, deeming
them irrelevant. (R. at 40.) At that time and on other
occasions, he made reference to the possibility that a
member might have a problem following the instruc-
tions of the military judge. (R. at 40, 44, 105.) This
concern apparently arose because on one of the
member questionnaires, in response to the question
“Is there any reason, such as a prior association with
[the military judge], that will keep you from follow-
ing the military judge’s instructions?” the member
answered “Yes.” (Appellate Ex. 42 at 4.) This fol-
lowed an affirmative response on the questionnaire
to the question of whether he knew the military
judge, with the additional information that he was a
friend.? (Appellate Ex. 42 at 3.)

8 At the time of the court session at which the motion
was considered, the original convening order was
unamended; the court-martial questionnaires were
from the originally appointed members.

9 The prospective court-martial member who submit-
ted this questionnaire was later removed from the
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Although this response (that the member had a
reason that would keep him from following the
judge’s instructions) most likely reflected a misread-
ing of the question, it was obviously taken seriously
by all parties, as it must be. The Government devel-
oped voir dire questions for the judge as a result. As
noted, the military judge declined to detail his con-
tacts with potential members, pointing out that if a
member had a problem following the instructions of
the judge, this would not be relevant to whether the
judge should be disqualified. (R. at 40.) Rather, as
was implicit in his later remarks, it would be a basis
for challenging the member. (See R. at 44, 105.) After
denying the motion to disqualify himself, the mili-
tary judge offered to seek a military judge from one
of the other services “[a]s a matter of convenience”
for the Government, to facilitate producing a panel,
as well as for any other concerns that might exist. (R.
at 106-07.)10 Ultimately, however, no other judge was
found who could serve at the scheduled date of trial.
(R. at 267.)

From the military judge’s undertaking to seek a
replacement military judge, Appellant argues that
the judge actually believed himself to be disqualified.
We reject this inference, which is nowhere supported
by the military judge’s words. His action in seeking a
replacement judge is surely as consistent with his
explanation as with Appellant’s inference; we see no

court-martial for unrelated reasons. (Amendment
No. 1 to General Court-Martial Convening Order No.
1-09.)

10 The military judge had brought up the idea earlier.
(R. at 44.)
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reason to disregard the military judge’s explanation.
Appellant cites Mcllwain. In that case the military
judge announced that “her participation ‘would sug-
gest to an impartial person looking in that I can’t be
impartial in this case,” leading inexorably to the
conclusion that R.C.M. 902(a) required disqualifica-
tion. Mcllwain, 66 M.J. at 314. Here, the military
judge said no such thing; and we do not believe,
viewing the matter objectively, that his continued
participation would lead to such a conclusion.

While conceding the absence of actual bias or
prejudice, Appellant claims that “the aggregate of
the military judge’s extensive network of personal
and professional relationships” with personnel in-
volved with the court-martial disqualified him. (As-
signment of Errors and Brief at 18.) Those personnel
included “Appellant and multiple counsel, witnesses
and members.” (Id. at 16.)

A former professional relationship between a mil-
itary judge or a court member and a witness is not
per se disqualifying. United States v. Wright, 52 M.d.
136, 141 (C.A.A.F. 1999). This is surely as true for a
military judge with regard to persons other than
witnesses. As Appellant acknowledges, the military
judge’s professional relationships did not result in
actual bias or prejudice; and we further conclude,
viewing the situation objectively, that none of the
military judge’s professional relationships would
cause his impartiality to reasonably be questioned.

A social relationship with a witness, however,
“creates special concerns which a professional rela-
tionship does not.” Id. The military judge’s social re-
lationships were with Appellant and his wife, both of
whom later testified at trial, and with one of Appel-
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lant’s counsel. The relationship with Appellant and
his wife, apparently not deep, was surely attenuated
by time. We think the relationship with counsel has
no greater significance than the professional rela-
tionship of supervisor and subordinate from which it
derived. Furthermore, we discern no possible preju-
dice from any of these social relationships.

Appellant’s point that both parties concurred in
moving to disqualify the military judge is unpersua-
sive. Also, we reject the assertion that other actions
by the military judge were improper.

The military judge did not abuse his discretion
when he declined to recuse himself.

Rebuttal testimony about cocaine users

Appellant claims that the military judge abused
his discretion by admitting Inspector D’s rebuttal
testimony over defense objection. A military judge’s
decision to admit expert testimony is reviewed under
an abuse of discretion standard. United States v.
Brooks, 64 M.dJ. 325, 328 (C.A.A.F. 2007).

During the defense case, Appellant’s wife testi-
fied that she had used cocaine during the months
preceding Appellant’s positive drug test. She testified
that she used the cocaine in the home and described
her purchases (including how she found a supplier)
and use of powder cocaine, the equipment she used
to ingest cocaine, and where she stored the equip-
ment, tending to show that cocaine residue could
have contaminated areas used by Appellant. In re-
buttal, Inspector D, a Senior Inspector for the Contra
Costa County District Attorney’s Office, was offered
and qualified as an expert in street-level narcotics.
(R. at 1957.) He testified, based on his experience as
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an undercover investigator, concerning the standard
process for purchasing powder cocaine, and typical
practices for using powder cocaine. (R. at 1959-69.)
His descriptions differed in several ways from Appel-
lant’s wife’s descriptions of her experience and prac-
tices.

Appellant complains that Inspector D’s testimo-
ny was improper human lie detector testimony, as
well as improper profile evidence. Human lie detec-
tor testimony is “an opinion as to whether the person
was truthful in making a specific statement regard-
ing a fact at issue in the case.” Brooks, 64 M.J. at 328
(quoting United States v. Kasper, 58 M.d. 314, 315
(C.A.A'F. 2003). Inspector D never expressed an
opinion as to whether certain testimony was truth-
ful. Indeed, he acknowledged that what he was testi-
fying to “doesn’t always have to be that way, but
that’s the majority of the way it happens.” (R. at
1960.) His testimony clearly was not human lie de-
tector testimony. Nor was it the functional equiva-
lent of saying that the witness was untruthful or
should not be believed. See Brooks, 64 M.J. at 329
(admitting a mathematical statement approaching
certainty about the reliability of a victim’s testimony
was plain error).

Nor was the testimony improper profile evidence.
“Profile evidence 1s evidence that presents a ‘charac-
teristic profile’ of an offender, . . . and then places the
accused’s personal characteristics within that profile
as proof of guilt.” United States v. Traum, 60 M.d.
226, 234 (C.A.A.F. 2004). “Generally, use of any
characteristic ‘profile’ as evidence of guilt or inno-
cence in criminal trial 1s improper.” United States v.
Banks, 36 M.J. 150, 161 (C.M.A. 1992). The “ban on
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profile evidence exists because this process treads too
closely to offering character evidence of an accused in
order to prove that the accused acted in conformity
with that evidence on a certain occasion and commit-
ted the criminal activity in question. This, of course,
1s prohibited under M.R.E. 404(a)(1).” Traum, 60
M.d. at 235 (citing Banks, 36 M.dJ. at 161). “[T]he fo-
cus 1s upon using a profile as evidence of the ac-
cused’s guilt or innocence, and not upon using a
characteristic profile to support or attack a witness’s
or victim’s credibility or truthfulness.” Brooks, 64
M.d. at 329. In other words, as a matter of principle,
an accused is not to be convicted because the charged
offense would be consistent with his own character or
because his characteristics are consistent with typi-
cal characteristics of other persons who commit that
offense. This principle has nothing to say about a
profile applied to a witness.

Appellant’s wife testified during the defense case
concerning her procurement, storage and consump-
tion of cocaine. Her testimony was central to the de-
fense contention that the accused’s positive test re-
sults were the product of innocent and unwitting ex-
posure to cocaine in the Sullivan household. Her
credibility and the plausibility of her account thus
became matters for the members to resolve. To rebut
her testimony, the Government called Inspector D to
describe prevalent practices among cocaine sellers
and users in the Bay Area to provide context within
which the Government could argue that aspects of
her testimony were improbable. The defense object-
ed, in part by suggesting that members would not
benefit from the testimony of a local expert on street
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level narcotics.!! The military judge conducted a
lengthy Article 39(a) session—which included a full
preview of Inspector D’s testimony—and heard ex-
tensive argument from counsel before determining
that Inspector D had specialized knowledge that
would be helpful to members charged with determin-
ing the facts of the case.12 (R. at 1864 to 1936,).

The military judge’s eventual charge to the
members instructed them, “In weighing the evidence,
you are expected to use your common sense and your
knowledge of human nature. You should consider the
inherent probability or improbability of the evidence
in light of all the circumstances of the case.” (R. at
2007). Notwithstanding the defense contention to the
contrary, we do not assume that the procurement,
storage, and consumption of cocaine are within the
ken of Coast Guard court-martial members simply
because they have statutory law enforcement author-
ity. We agree with the military judge’s determination
that Inspector D’s expert testimony would be helpful

11 Counsel argued, “[W]e are dealing here with a jury
of eight senior Coast Guard captains. The U.S. Coast
Guard, last time I looked, was it itself involved in
law enforcement. Every Coast Guard officer . . . has
law enforcement responsibilities, powers, at least, if
not responsibilities and, at times, actual responsibili-
ties. The notion that you would treat these eight sen-
ior Coast Guard captains as if they were the next
eight or twelve jurors drawn from the Alameda
Country registry of motor vehicles roster or the voter
roles [sic] and that they needed to be educated about
the use of drugs is, again, preposterous.” (R. at 1869).

12 The military judge restricted Inspector D’s testi-
mony in some respects. (R. at 1926-27, 1929-36.)
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to the members by providing them some relevant
context within which to assess the probability or im-
probability of aspects of Appellant’s wife’s testimony.
The defense had ample opportunity on cross-
examination to underscore Inspector D’s acknowl-
edgment that not every cocaine sale or use conformed
to the typical case he observed. Finally, the military
judge properly instructed the members on the limita-
tions of expert testimony.13

In sum, the rebuttal evidence at issue related to
the testimony of the accused’s wife, a witness. The
evidence was used to attack her credibility. By defi-
nition, see Traum, 60 M.J. at 234, this rebuttal evi-
dence was not the type of evidence subject to the
prohibition on the use of profile evidence. Nor was it
human lie detector testimony. Rather, it was precise-
ly in the nature of testimony from a person with spe-
cialized knowledge that was offered to assist the trier
of fact to understand other evidence or determine a
fact in issue, which is explicitly permissible under
M.R.E. 702. The military judge did not abuse his dis-
cretion in allowing the rebuttal testimony.

13 “Only you, the members of the court, determine
the credibility of the witnesses and what the facts of
the case are. No expert witness or other witness can
testify that some other witness’s account of what oc-
curred 1s true or not or credible or not, that the wit-
ness, expert or non-expert, believes another witness,
or that a charged offense did or did not occur.” (R. at
2009).
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Hair test evidence

Appellant contends that the hair test evidence
from Psychemedics should have been excluded be-
cause the company refused to provide the standard
operating procedures (SOP) governing its hair test-
ing. Appellant also takes issue with some of the mili-
tary judge’s findings of fact on the issue. A decision
on whether to admit or exclude evidence is reviewed
for abuse of discretion. United States v. Freeman, 65
M.d. 451, 453 (C.A.A.F. 2008). Likewise, a ruling on
a request for production of evidence is reviewed for
abuse of discretion. United States v. Rodriguez, 60
M.J. 239, 246 (C.A.A.F. 2004). Findings of fact are
reviewed for clear error. United States v. Flores, 64
M.d. 451, 454 (C.A.A.F. 2007).

The evidence at issue is the testimony of
Psychemedics’ Dr. C and the exhibits admitted dur-
ing his testimony, including the Psychemedics labor-
atory package concerning the test on Appellant’s
hair.

On 7 May 2009, after the initial Article 39(a) ses-
sion but before trial, the defense filed a motion head-
ed “Discovery Motion — Warrant of Attachment,”
seeking a warrant of attachment to enforce a previ-
ously-issued subpoena to obtain the SOP used by
Psychemedics in testing hair samples for evidence of
drugs. (Appellate Ex. 70.) Psychemedics moved to
quash the subpoena, to which the defense filed a re-
sponse. (Appellate Exs. 71, 72.) On 22 May 2009, the
military judge quashed the subpoena, ordering the
Government to withdraw it, but encouraged the de-
fense to narrow its request and seek only portions of
the SOP. (Appellate Ex. 73.)
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On 28 May 2009, the defense emailed Psyche-
medics’ counsel to pursue a narrower request, identi-
fying several specific items, although not giving up
its request for the entire SOP. Psychemedics declined
to provide a smaller quantity of material while the
larger request remained pending, seeking instead a
global resolution. (Appellate Ex. 108.)

On 5 June 2009, the defense filed a new Motion
in Limine seeking exclusion of all Psychemedics evi-
dence because of Psychemedics’ refusal to provide the
requested material. (Appellate Ex. 120.)14 The Gov-
ernment filed its opposition on 7 June 2009, and the
motion was argued at an Article 39(a) session on 8
June 2009. (Appellate Ex. 124; R. at 748-69.) The
military judge denied the motion, and provided writ-
ten findings of fact and a ruling. (R. at 785; Appellate
Ex. 323.) Dr. C testified later that day and into the
next day, and eventually testified in rebuttal as well.

The Defense expert, Dr. K, was the deputy pro-
gram manager for forensic toxicology at the United
States Army Medical Command. (R. at 1470.) He had
previously worked at Psychemedics as the vice presi-
dent of laboratory operations from 1994 to 1998, af-
ter retiring from the Army where he had had duties
in forensic toxicology. (R. at 1469-70.) These undis-
puted facts are included in the military judge’s find-
ings of fact. (Appellate Ex. 73 at 2; Appellate Ex. 323
at 2.)

The military judge ultimately concluded that
although the defense request for some of the specific

14 Trial on the merits was scheduled to begin, and in
fact did begin, on 6 June 2009.
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materials “would normally appear relevant and nec-
essary . . ., this case presents the somewhat unusual
situation where the Defense’s expert has extensive
knowledge of, and confidence in, the Psychemedics’
hair testing process and procedures. In other words,
the facts show that the SOP documents are cumula-
tive of [the defense expert’s] personal knowledge and
not helpful to the Defense.” (Appellate Ex. 323 at 4-
5.) Accordingly, he did not exclude the Psychemedics
evidence; nor did he order production of the SOP.
(Appellate Ex. 323 at 5.)

A party is entitled to evidence that is relevant
and necessary. R.C.M. 703(f)(1). Relevant evidence is
necessary when it is not cumulative and when it
would contribute to a party’s presentation of the case
in some positive way. R.C.M. 703(f)(1) Discussion.

We agree with the military judge’s implicit con-
clusion that the materials requested were not neces-
sary. The significance of the SOP is its role in ensur-
ing reliability of test results, as Appellant surely
agrees. (See Assignment of Errors and Brief at 34.)
Although Dr. K, the defense expert, cannot be as-
sumed to have known the terms of the current SOP,
he knew enough from his knowledge of the prior SOP
and his expertise to fully inform the defense’s cross-
examination of Dr. C, the Psychemedics witness.
Based on his advice, the defense could have asked
Dr. C whether the laboratory had an SOP, whether it
had been followed for Appellant’s hair sample, or
whether the SOP included particular steps and
whether those steps had been followed for Appel-
lant’s hair sample. In a slightly different approach,
the defense could have asked Dr. C about exactly
what steps were performed in testing such as that
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conducted on Appellant’s hair, the training of the
personnel who performed steps in the process, the
procedures employed to ensure that the steps in the
testing were in fact performed as prescribed, the pos-
sible consequences if steps were not performed as
prescribed, the considerations for each step, how and
why the prescribed steps were changed (if they had
been changed) over the time Psychemedics had been
doing hair testing, as well as every other detail that
might be expected to be found in the SOP and, more
to the point, every other aspect that might be im-
portant to reliability of test results.1®> Thus, the SOP
may properly be called cumulative.

Appellant complains that the military judge’s
findings blame the defense for creating a “time-
critical situation.” (Assignment of Errors and Brief at
33; see Appellate Ex. 323 at 3.) This characterization
is irrelevant to the military judge’s conclusion, and
ours, that the requested materials were not neces-
sary. Accordingly, we need not address it.

The military judge did not abuse his discretion in
concluding that the Psychemedics SOP was not nec-
essary to be provided to the defense and in admitting
the Psychemedics evidence.

15 Such questioning, which the military judge active-
ly encouraged but which, apparently, the defense
never conducted, could also have been carried out at
an Article 39(a) session, or before trial. For example,
Psychemedics invited the defense to submit specific
questions to it. See Appellate Ex. 108; see also Appel-
late Ex. 323 at 2 (“There is no evidence that [Dr. C]
has refused to be interviewed by the Defense or dis-
cuss testing methods, equipment, quality control, etc.
with the Defense expert or counsel.”).
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Post-trial advice by witness

Appellant asserts that both the SJA and deputy
SJA were disqualified from providing the post-trial
advice because they both had testified on a contested
matter.

No person who has acted as member, military
judge, counsel, or investigating officer in a case may
later act as a staff judge advocate upon the same
case. Article 6, UCMJ; R.C.M. 1106(b). A staff judge
advocate may also be ineligible to provide the post-
trial recommendation to a convening authority if he
or she has testified as to a contested matter (unless
the testimony is clearly uncontroverted), has other
than an official interest in the case, or must review
that officer’s own pretrial action when the sufficiency
or correctness of the earlier action has been placed in
issue. R.C.M. 1106(b) Discussion. In the absence of a
statutory disqualification, “any presumption that a
witness cannot later render an impartial evaluation
of the case 1s rebuttable.” United States v. Choice, 49
C.M.R. 663, 665 (C.M.A. 1975). Even in a case of
statutory disqualification, the error is tested for
prejudice. United States v. Stefan, 69 M.J. 256, 258
(C.A.AF. 2010). Whether a staff judge advocate or
convening authority is disqualified from participat-
ing in the post-trial review is a question of law that
1s reviewed de novo. United States v. Taylor, 60 M.d.
190, 194 (C.A.A.F. 2004).

As discussed above, during the testimony con-
cerning the Convening Authority’s selection of panel
members (the first issue discussed herein), the SJA
and deputy SJA both testified that the Convening
Authority expressed that he did not want to appoint
flag officers to the court-martial whom he would lat-
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er be assigning to billets. The deputy SJA signed, as
acting SJA, the Staff Judge Advocate’s Recommenda-
tion (SJAR) dated 24 September 2009. In the post-
trial submission under R.C.M. 1105 dated 29 October
2009, the defense requested that the SJA and deputy
SJA be disqualified because they had testified as to a
contested matter, and requested a rehearing due to
asserted legal errors, one of which was the categori-
cal exclusion of flag officers from the panel.

R.C.M. 1106(d)(4) requires the SJA to provide an
opinion to the convening authority concerning any
allegation of legal error in matters submitted under
R.C.M. 1105. In compliance therewith, the Adden-
dum to the SJAR dated 2 November 2009, signed by
the SJA, advises that the alleged legal errors “are
without merit and do not require corrective action on
the findings or sentence.” The Addendum also notes
the argument that the deputy SJA and SJA were
disqualified and the consequent request for assign-
ment of a substitute SJA for the purpose of post-trial
advice, and demurs, advising, “Our limited testimo-
nial activity on a procedural pretrial motion in this
case 1s not a basis for disqualification.”16

In conformity with the SJA’s advice, the Conven-
ing Authority did not act on the defense requests for
disqualification of the SJA and deputy SJA and for a
rehearing.

16 By this time, the original Convening Authority had
departed and a new Convening Authority was in
place. (See General Court-Martial Order No. 1-10;
compare General Court-Martial Convening Order
No. 1-09 and both amendments thereto.)
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We conclude that neither the SJA, nor the DSJA
acting in his stead, was disqualified from participat-
ing in the post-trial review in this case. Bearing in
mind the R.C.M. 1106(b) Discussion, we are inclined
to say the testimony given by the SJA and deputy
SJA was uncontroverted. Although there was other
evidence of the Convening Authority’s thinking, none
of it was contradictory to or inconsistent with their
testimony. Further, as we see it, the testimony of the
SJA and deputy SJA was the strongest evidence in
favor of the defense showing that exclusion of flag
officers from the panel was categorical and arguably
improper. This means that neither of them, in re-
viewing the issue, would be personally invested in
defending their credibility against the interest of Ap-
pellant, but would have only an unbiased and official
interest. Accordingly, we reject the notion that they
could not render impartial advice in the matter. See
Choice, 49 C.M.R. at 665-66. The SJA and deputy
SJA were not disqualified to provide post-trial ad-
vice.

Decision

We have reviewed the record in accordance with
Article 69, UCMdJ. Upon such review, the findings
and sentence are determined to be correct in law. Ac-
cordingly, the findings of guilty and the sentence, as
approved below, are affirmed.

Judges NORRIS and GILL concur.
For the Court,

[seal omitted] L. I. McClelland
Chief Judge
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Appendix D

10 U.S.C. § 825

§ 825. Art. 25. Who may serve on courts-
martial

(a) Any commissioned officer on active duty is el-
igible to serve on all courts-martial for the trial of
any person who may lawfully be brought before such
courts for trial.

(b) Any warrant officer on active duty is eligible
to serve on general and special courts-martial for the
trial of any person, other than a commissioned of-
ficer, who may lawfully be brought before such courts
for trial.

(¢) (1) Any enlisted member of an armed force on
active duty who is not a member of the same unit as
the accused is eligible to serve on general and special
courts-martial for the trial of any enlisted member of
an armed force who may lawfully be brought before
such courts for trial, but he shall serve as a member
of a court only if, before the conclusion of a session
called by the military judge under section 839(a) of
this title [10 USCS § 839(a)] (article 39(a)) prior to
trial or, in the absence of such a session, before the
court 1s assembled for the trial of the accused, the
accused personally has requested orally on the record
or in writing that enlisted members serve on it. After
such a request, the accused may not be tried by a
general or special court-martial the membership of
which does not include enlisted members in a num-
ber comprising at least one-third of the total mem-
bership of the court, unless eligible enlisted members
cannot be obtained on account of physical conditions
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or military exigencies. If such members cannot be ob-
tained, the court may be assembled and the trial
held without them, but the convening authority shall
make a detailed written statement, to be appended
to the record, stating why they could not be obtained.

(2) In this article, "unit" means any regularly or-
ganized body as defined by the Secretary concerned,
but in no case may it be a body larger than a compa-
ny, squadron, ship's crew, or body corresponding to
one of them.

(d) (1) When it can be avoided, no member of an
armed force may be tried by a court-martial any
member of which is junior to him in rank or grade.

(2) When convening a court-martial, the conven-
ing authority shall detail as members thereof such
members of the armed forces as, in his opinion, are
best qualified for the duty by reason of age, educa-
tion, training, experience, length of service, and judi-
cial temperament. No member of an armed force is
eligible to serve as a member of a general or special
court-martial when he is the accuser or a witness for
the prosecution or has acted as investigating officer
or as counsel in the same case.

(e) Before a court-martial is assembled for the
trial of a case, the convening authority may excuse a
member of the court from participating in the case.
Under such regulations as the Secretary concerned
may prescribe, the convening authority may delegate
his authority under this subsection to his staff judge
advocate or legal officer or to any other principal as-
sistant.
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Appendix E
Rules for Courts-Martial

Rule 902. Disqualification of military judge

(a) In general. Except as provided in subsection (e) of
this rule, a military judge shall disqualify himself or
herself in any proceeding in which that military
judge’s impartiality might reasonably be questioned.

(b) Specific grounds. A military judge shall also dis-
qualify himself or herself in the following circum-
stances:

(1) Where the military judge has a personal bias
or prejudice concerning a party or personal
knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts concerning
the proceeding.

(2) Where the military judge has acted as counsel,
investigating officer, legal officer, staff judge advo-
cate, or convening authority as to any offense
charged or in the same case generally.

(3) Where the military judge has been or will be a
witness in the same case, 1s the accuser, has for-
warded charges in the case with a personal recom-
mendation as to disposition, or, except in the perfor-
mance of duties as military judge in a previous trial
of the same or a related case, has expressed an opin-
ion concerning the guilt or innocence of the accused.

(4) Where the military judge is not eligible to act
because the military judge is not qualified under
R.C.M. 502(c) or not detailed under R.C.M. 503(b).

(5) Where the military judge, the military judge’s
spouse, or a person within the third degree of rela-
tionship to either of them or a spouse of such person:



57a

(A) Is a party to the proceeding;

(B) Is known by the military judge to have an
interest, financial or otherwise, that could be sub-
stantially affected by the outcome of the proceeding;
or

(C) Is to the military judge’s knowledge likely
to be a material witness in the proceeding.

Discussion

A military judge should inform himself or
herself about his or her financial interests,
and make a reasonable effort to inform him-
self or herself about the financial interests of

his or her spouse and minor children living in
his or her household.

(¢) Definitions. For the purposes of this rule the fol-
lowing words or phrases shall have the meaning in-
dicated—

(1) “Proceeding” includes pretrial, trial, post-trial,
appellate review, or other stages of litigation.

(2) The “degree of relationship” is calculated ac-
cording to the civil law system.

Discussion

Relatives within the third degree of relation-
ship are children, grandchildren, great
grandchildren, parents, grandparents, great
grandparents, brothers, sisters, uncles,
aunts, nephews, and nieces.

(3) “Military judge” does not include the president
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of a special court-martial without a military judge.

(d) Procedure.

(1) The military judge shall, upon motion of any
party or sua sponte, decide whether the military
judge is disqualified.

Discussion

There is no peremptory challenge against a
military judge. A military judge should care-
fully consider whether any of the grounds for
disqualification in this rule exist in each
case. The military judge should broadly con-
strue grounds for challenge but should not
step down from a case unnecessarily.

Possible grounds for disqualification
should be raised at the earliest reasonable
opportunity. They may be raised at any time,
and an earlier adverse ruling does not bar
later consideration of the same issue, as, for
example, when additional evidence is discov-
ered.

(2) Each party shall be permitted to question the
military judge and to present evidence regarding a
possible ground for disqualification before the mili-
tary judge decides the matter.

Discussion

Nothing in this rule prohibits the military
judge from reasonably limiting the presenta-
tion of evidence, the scope of questioning, and
argument on the subject so as to ensure that
only matters material to the central issue of
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the military judge’s possible disqualification
are considered, thereby, preventing the pro-
ceedings from becoming a forum for unfound-
ed opinion, speculation or innuendo.

(3) Except as provided under subsection (e) of this
rule, if the military judge rules that the military
judge is disqualified, the military judge shall recuse
himself or herself.

(e) Waiver. No military judge shall accept from the
parties to the proceeding a waiver of any ground for
disqualification enumerated in subsection (b) of this
rule. Where the ground for disqualification arises on-
ly under subsection (a) of this rule, waiver may be
accepted provided it is preceded by a full disclosure
on the record of the basis for disqualification.



